1963

Mastic Tile Division of the Ruberoid Company v. Acme Distributing Co. et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This case involves two basic causes of action in contract: first, a manufacturers action on a promissory note, chattel mortgage and open account against the defendant distributor, a Utah corporation; second, the manufacturers action against W. N. Beesley, Sr. and Scott L. Beesley personally on an assignment.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The lower court granted the plaintiff's motion for summary judgment against the individual and corporate defendants. All defendants appeal from the judgment and the amended judgment.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

All defendants seek reversal of the judgment and amended judgment and judgment in favor of the defendants on the assignment and note as a matter of law, or that failing, a trial on the merits.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts of this case are very intricate and involved and at best require a careful examination of all the instruments as well as the pleadings.

The plaintiff, Mastic Tile, is a manufacturer of tile and various other products which are sold to distributors for local sale. The defendant, Acme Distributing Company, did purchase from the plaintiff a number of its products for sale in Utah. During the several years immediately preceding March 10, 1961, the plaintiff sold goods on open account to Acme Distributing Company. By March 10, 1961, the said defendant corporation owed

to the plaintiff \$81,278.91 on open account. At this point the plaintiff insisted that the defendant corporation reduce the obligation on the open account to a promissory note. An agreement was executed on March 10, 1961 whereby the open account in the sum of \$81,278.91 was reduced to a promissory note secured by a chattel mortgage on all the merchandise to be sold to Acme by the plaintiff as well as merchandise then in the inventory of Acme. Secondly, the note was secured by an assignment of all accounts receivable, both present and future, which represented sales of the plaintiff's products.

It is important to note that the entire indebtedness of any type or nature which was due from the defendant, Acme Corporation, to the plaintiff was reduced to and embodied in the March 10 promissory note and agreement and that no other obligation was due to the plaintiff from the defendant at that time. The agreement further provided that the defendant corporation would pay the sum of \$2,000 per month at 3% per annum. The agreement then provided that the plaintiff would allow the defendant to purchase on a limited open account basis by providing that the open account must be paid within 75 days from the invoice date. A 2% discount was granted if paid within 60 days. It was the intent of the parties to liquidate the note as rapidly as possible and to prevent further indebtedness.

On March 10, 1961 a supplemental agreement (said agreement was not included in the pleadings before the court when the summary judgment was granted) was executed. This supplemental agreement provided in paragraph 2 that if the note and the open account are current, moneys collected on the assigned accounts receivable may be used in the ordinary course of business. It further stated that payments received shall first be applied to the oldest item or charge on the account. The oldest item or charge on the account is represented by the promissory note. The intent of the agreement and supplemental agreement was clear. The open account was to be kept current and all proceeds received from the sale of plaintiff's products were to be applied against the note in order to liquidate that obligation as quickly as possible.

At this point in order to fully understand the case it must be understood that Acme Distributing Company was a Utah corporation engaged in the business of selling wholesale, various products. Prior to January, 1961, the primary stockholder was W. N. Beesley, Jr., who sold his stock interest in the corporation to his father, W. N. Beesley, Sr. and his brother Scott L. Beesley. At the time of the sale W. N. Beesley, Jr. owed Acme Distributing Company \$21,979.73 for advances and loans. W. N. Beesley, Sr. and Scott L. Beesley agreed to assume this obligation. On March 10, 1961, at the same time the agreement, supplemental agreement, note and chattel

mortgage were executed, an assignment of \$21,979.73 claim of Acme distributing Company against W. N. Beesley, Jr. was made to the plaintiff corporation. The plaintiff insisted that W. N. Beesley, Sr. and Scott L. Beesley acknowledge and consent personally to the assignment. The assignment provides:

“This assignment shall be a part of that certain agreement between them dated March 10, 1961.”

This assignment has become the basic point of contention between the plaintiff and the defendant in this litigation. The defendants all contend that no consideration was given for this assignment and that the purpose and intent of the assignment was to secure the \$81,278.91 note and upon payment of the note the security would be discharged. The plaintiff's pleadings do not indicate what consideration, if any, was paid nor are there any findings of fact or conclusions of law to indicate upon what theory the court granted the summary judgment.

On December 20, 1961, there was an extension and modification agreement wherein it was agreed that the original note of \$81,278.91 had been reduced to \$55,500|00, that the interest rate would be reduced from 3% to 2% per annum and that the monthly payments would be reduced from \$2,000 per month to \$750 per month. It was further agreed in paragraph 4 that the sales rebates

which had originally been credited against the promissory note would hereafter be credited against the open account in order to reduce the open account which was becoming quite large.

During the course of business from March 10, 1961 to and including approximately December 1, 1962, the promissory note obligation was reduced to \$47,250.00. However, the open account had increased from 0 dollars to approximately \$35,020.49. The defendant corporation was in default. In order to avoid an immediate foreclosure by the plaintiff corporation on all of the accounts receivable and the inventory, the plaintiff and the defendant corporation mutually agreed to have the inventory returned to the plaintiff corporation for full credit less freight expense and to cooperate in the collection of the assigned accounts receivable for the benefit of the plaintiff corporation. The plaintiff corporation, upon accepting the inventory, gave credit to the defendant corporation of \$20,487.40. The plaintiff corporation further gave defendant corporation \$19,668.27 credit on accounts receivable. There was approximately \$7,353.54 in uncollected accounts receivable. Plaintiff also gave to the defendant corporation \$782.11 credit for sales rebate. The total credit was \$40,937.78. The plaintiff also received the \$7,353.54 in assigned accounts receivable not yet collected making a grand total of \$48,291.32 either on hand in the form of uncollected accounts receivable or fully granted credit given by the plaintiff to the defendant.

The plaintiff then made its motion to the court for a summary judgment. The court, upon examining the documents and hearing arguments by counsel, granted a summary judgment against W. N. Beesley, Sr. and Scott L. Beesley personally in the sum of \$21,979.73 on the basis of the assignment and \$19,005.73 together with interest in the amount of \$960.00 and attorney's fees in the sum of \$4,500.00. The judgment made no distinction between the amount owing on the note and the amount owing on the open account.

Apparently the court granted the judgment in accordance with the affidavit supporting the plaintiff's motion for summary judgment. The said affidavit set up the accounting between the parties and prorated the inventory between the note and the open account and applied all of the accounts receivable to the note. If such were the case, the defendant contends that it was improper in that both the inventory, chattel, and assigned receivable secured the note, and that by proper application of the collected funds and merchandise the note would have been discharged or nearly so, and that by prorating the inventory between the open account and the note, the proper payment of the note was avoided.

The court granted the plaintiff's motion for summary judgment although the defendant did file through their attorney a counter-affidavit and a motion by the defendant that the summary judgment be granted in

favor of the defendants, W. N. Beesley, Sr. and Scott L. Beesley for no cause of action on the theory that the assignment executed by Acme Distributing Company and the defendants personally was only as security and that upon payment of the note there was no further need for the assignment. The Court denied this motion. Subsequent to this denial by the Court, the defendants did file a motion to reconsider the court's action which was also denied except that the amended judgment was ordered by the court providing that as the uncollected accounts receivable were collected, the sum should apply against the judgment. From these rulings of the court all of the defendants filed notice of appeal.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

THAT THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE THERE WERE MATERIAL ISSUES OF LAW AND FACT.

POINT II.

THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN THAT THE COURT AS A MATTER OF LAW ERRONEOUSLY CONSTRUED THE LEGAL INSTRUMENTS BY PRORATING INVENTORY ITEMS BETWEEN THE OPEN ACCOUNT AND THE NOTE AND BY GRANTING A JUDGMENT WHICH MADE NO DISTINCTION BETWEEN THE NOTE AND THE OPEN ACCOUNT.

POINT III.

THE COURT AS A MATTER OF LAW ERRED IN NOT FINDING THAT AT THE TIME THE ASSIGNMENT WAS EXECUTED, MARCH 10, 1961, IT WAS FOR SECURITY PURPOSES ONLY.

POINT IV.

THE COURT AS A MATTER OF LAW ERRED IN GRANTING JUDGMENT AGAINST THE INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS, W. N. BEESLEY, SR. AND SCOTT L. BEESLEY, BECAUSE THE PLEADINGS CLEARLY ESTABLISH THAT BY PROPER APPLICATION OF MONEYS RECEIVED, THE NOTE SECURED BY THE PERSONAL ASSIGNMENT WAS LIQUIDATED THEREBY RELIEVING PERSONAL DEFENDANTS OF FURTHER LIABILITY, SINCE THE ASSIGNMENT WAS MADE AS SECURITY FOR THE DEBT WHICH EXISTED AT THE TIME OF THE ASSIGNMENT AND NOT FOR FUTURE DEBTS.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THAT THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE THERE WERE MATERIAL ISSUES OF LAW AND FACT.

The undisputed law in this jurisdiction as well as other jurisdictions is that summary judgments will be granted only when there are no material issues of law or fact in dispute. Therefore the court should not grant

summary judgments where there are meritorious claims and defenses. In the case of *Kidman v. White v. Jones, third party plaintiff, v. Wade, third party defendant*, 378 Pac 2d 898 p. 900, the Court said :

“In confronting the problem presented on this appeal we have been obliged to remain aware that a summary judgment, which turns a party out of court without an opportunity to present his evidence, is a harsh measure that should be granted only when, taking the view most favorable to a party’s claims and any proof that might properly be adduced thereunder, he could in no event prevail. That both parties hereto make plausible arguments that the contract in question is so manifestly in their favor that reasonable minds could not see if the other way is a pointed commentary of the ability of the human mind to rationalize in its own interests. It is equally so upon the desirability and the propriety of resolving any doubts in favor of permitting courts and juries to settle such disputes rather than ruling upon them summarily as was done here.”

The court further stated in the case of *Samms v. Eccles*, 11 Utah 2d 289, 358 Pac. 2d 344 at p. 355:

“A motion for summary judgment is in effect a demurrer to the claims of the plaintiff, saying: assuming they are true, no right to recover is shown. It is regarded as a harsh measure which the courts are reluctant to sanction because it deprives the adverse party of an opportunity to present the evidence concerning her grievance

for adjudication. For this reason plaintiff's contentions must be considered in the light most to her advantage and all doubts resolved in favor of permitting her to go to trial; and only if when the whole matter is so viewed, she could, nevertheless, establish no right to recovery, should the motion be granted."

In another Utah case, *Morris v. Farnsworth Motel*, 123 Utah 289, 259 Pac. 297 the Supreme affirmed a summary judgment; however at page 299 the Court stated:

"Although we are sensitive of the duty of courts to safeguard the right of citizens to have grievances fully tried on the merits to courts and juries under proper circumstances, this does not lead to the necessity or desirability of such submission where, taking the evidence and all fair inferences therefrom most favorable to a plaintiff, all reasonable minds must yet conclude that his own lack of due care proximately contributed to cause his injury."

That this is the general law is further supported in 41 Am. Jur. Sec. 342 at p. 525.

"If there are issues of fact, the motion for summary judgement is denied, or, in some jurisdictions, the issues are narrowed to the material facts which are actually and in good faith controverted. If there are no questions of fact, the judge applies the law in accordance with the admitted facts as disclosed by the affidavits. The

situation corresponds to that of a judge directing a jury to render a verdict on admitted facts in the plaintiff's favor.

"These affidavits stand on a different footing than those in which the trial judge is determining a question of fact on affidavits. If the affidavit of defense shows a substantial issue of fact, summary judgment should not be ordered even though the affidavit is disbelieved. If the affidavits on the one side and on the other are directly opposed as to the facts shown, the case must go to trial. Oral evidence is not admissible, nor are interrogatories propounded for the purpose of discovery, where the statutes or rules under which they are propounded do not contemplate their use."

Applying these basic principles of law to the instant case the pleadings clearly show material issues exist. First, there is a dispute as to the allocation of funds obtained from the return of merchandise inventory and collected accounts receivable. The plaintiff contends that the inventory may be prorated between the balance owing on the note and the balance on the open account. The defendants all contend that all of the accounts receivable and all of the inventory returned must be applied to the note as is clearly set forth in the agreement of March 10, 1961.

Secondly, the plaintiff and defendants take opposite positions as to the purpose of the assignment which was

executed March 10, 1961. The plaintiff's complaint alleges merely that the assignment was executed on March 10, 1961 and are entitled to judgment on the assignment. The defendants, however, in their answer and in the counter affidavit opposing the motion for summary judgment specifically allege that no consideration was given for the assignment and that the only purpose for the assignment was for security purposes. The assignment was to secure the promissory note dated March 10, 1961. It is apparent that this difference of opinion cannot be resolved from the pleadings alone. It would be necessary to have testimony taken in order to determine what was the actual intent and purpose of the assignment.

Thirdly, there is a material issue with reference to what, if any, attorney's fees should be granted to the plaintiff and charged against the defendant corporation. Paragraph 10 of the plaintiff's affidavit supporting his motion for summary judgment alleges that reasonable attorney's fees are: "\$4700.00 applicable to the note and \$3500.00 applicable to the chattel mortgage." The defendants, in paragraph 7 of their counter affidavit, contended it is not possible to have attorney's fees assessed both on the promissory note and a second attorney's fee on the chattel mortgage which secures the note. This certainly would be a duplication of attorney's fees. Despite this dispute as to assessment of attorney fees, the Court awarded an attorney fee of \$4500.00 and in no

way indicated whether it was based upon the note, the chattel mortgage, or both. With reference to attorney fees it is further alleged by the defendants that by proper application of the credits the notes might very well be satisfied, in which event *no* attorney fees could be assessed. Therefore, it is apparent that the Court must make a distinction as to moneys owed on the note and moneys owed on the open account before attorney fees can be assessed. The lower court apparently ignored this important distinction.

Fourth, a supplemental agreement dated March 10, 1961, was not made part of the pleadings by the plaintiff. The defendants have argued that all of the documents must be before the court in order to have a full understanding of the case. The defendants in their answer and their counterclaim have alleged the existence and importance of the Supplemental Agreement which is an integral part of the Agreement itself. Paragraph 2 of the supplemental agreement states: "Payments to Acme on said assigned account shall be applied to the oldest item or charge on the account." The defendants contend that all of the assigned accounts receivable apply to the note and carry out the general intent of the parties that the note was to be liquidated as rapidly as possible. To some extent, the plaintiff must agree with this position because in their pleadings they allege that all of the accounts receivable collected were credited to the note. Enlarging upon this intent, it becomes increas-

ingly apparent that it was the desire of the parties to provide as much security as possible on the note obligation.

POINT II.

THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN THAT THE COURT AS A MATTER OF LAW ERRONEOUSLY CONSTRUED THE LEGAL INSTRUMENTS BY PRORATING INVENTORY ITEMS BETWEEN THE OPEN ACCOUNT AND THE NOTE AND BY GRANTING A JUDGMENT WHICH MADE NO DISTINCTION BETWEEN THE NOTE AND THE OPEN ACCOUNT.

The judgment against the personal defendants in the sum of \$21,979.73 was granted on the assignment and was not considered by the Court as security on the note. A judgment of \$19,005.73 was against the corporation only and made no distinction as to whether it applied to the note or the open account. The interest in the sum of \$960 and the attorney's fee of \$4500 were judgments against the corporation only but it is not known whether the interest or attorney fees were based on the note or the open account. In determining what was intended by the parties it is necessary to construe all of the instruments together, one of which was not included in plaintiff's complaint. The basic agreement is the document entitled "Agreement" and dated March 10, 1961 and this document clearly spells out the intent of the parties in that Paragraph 2 provides:

"To secure the payment of said promissory note Acme agrees: (a) to execute and deliver to Mastie a chattel mortgage . . . (b) to sell, assign, and transfer to Mastie all its accounts receivable . . ."

Then referring to Paragraph 4 the agreement states:

"“From and after the 1st day of January, 1961, all purchases from Mastie by Acme shall be at 2% discount if paid within 60 days from the invoice date and net if paid thereafter provided that all payments to Mastie shall be the net invoice amount and if paid within the discount period Mastie agrees to credit the discount to the unpaid balance of the promissory note mentioned above provided further that all invoices shall be paid not later than 75 days from invoice date.”"

It is apparent from these two provisions of the agreement that the note was to be fully secured and paid off as rapidly as possible pursuant to the terms of the agreement and that the open account was to be kept current at all times thus preventing the building up of a large open account which had created the trouble in the beginning. Therefore, at the time of the execution of the agreement the old open account was reduced to a promissory note and there was no other indebtedness owing by the defendant corporation to the plaintiff.

The assignment, dated March 10, 1961, provide in the last paragraph :

“It is agreed by Acme Distributing Company, Inc. and Mastic Tile Division of Rubberoid Company, assignor and assignee, respectively, that this assignment shall be a part of that certain agreement between them, dated March 10, 1961.”

It is obvious that at the time this assignment was executed the only outstanding obligation was the note; therefore it must necessarily indicate that the intent of the parties was to protect the plaintiff against the possibility of loss on the note, there being no other obligation in existence at that time to which the assignment could apply. This is especially true when no consideration was given for the assignment.

The supplemental agreement dated March 10, 1961, in Paragraph 2 states :

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