1963

Mastic Tile Division of the Ruberoid Company v. Acme Distributing Co. et al : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT GRANTED BY THE LOWER COURT WAS CORRECT IN ALL RESPECTS.

Appellants under Point I in their Brief assert first that the credit for merchandise returned was improperly allocated between the Note and open account. They contend that the merchandise credit should have been applied solely to the Note. This is simply a conclusion asserted by Appellants without reasons being given therefor. Appellants do not state that there are facts which will support their conclusion, nor do they point to any agreement of the parties in support of this conclusion.

The Appellants have entirely overlooked and ignored the clear and unequivocal terms of the agreements between the parties. First of all, the agreement in its preamble states,

“WHEREAS, Acme desires to continue as a distributor of products sold by Mastic, and to obtain credit for its further purchases from Mastic.”

The language quoted from the contract clearly demonstrates that the intent of the parties was to embrace a continuation of their business relationship and the further extension of credit.

The mortgage executed by Acme Distributing Company states the following:

“This chattel mortgage is given to secure the payment of a promissory note in the amount of \$81,278.91 made and executed by said mortgagor and payable and delivered to mortgagee at its

office in Long Beach, California, together with any further and additional loans or advances which the mortgagee or holder hereof shall make to the mortgagor."

The mortgage is a standard, open-end mortgage in common and general use throughout the financial world. It covers a situation where two parties contemplate a continuity in business dealings and the further advance of money or goods.

Clearly this mortgage covered not only the Note, but the further advances made by Respondent to Appellant, Acme, represented by the open-account purchases. After the commencement of the law suit, the merchandise was returned and a credit issued for the full invoice price, less freight. This credit is not in dispute and is exactly \$20,487.50 (It is \$163.36 higher than the sum mentioned in Paragraph 7 of Respondent's Affidavit in Support of Summary Judgment, but this figure was agreed upon and stipulated to by counsel before the hearing.) (See Judgment, Record 46.)

Since the mortgage covered both the Note and the open account, this credit should be applied pro-rata as set forth in the Affidavit of Respondent in support of its motion for summary judgment.

In the Utah case of *Farr v. Hartley*, 81 P. 2d 640 (Utah), a series of Notes had been given, secured by a single mortgage on real property. On foreclosure, the question of the application of proceeds had arisen. The court stated and held:

"The only legal inference that can be made

from the Finding of Fact is that the parties agreed that there would be no priority of payment out of the mortgage property in case of foreclosure. Where such an agreement exists, whether express or implied, a mortgagee is entitled to share pro-rata with assignee note holders in the proceeds of the property securing the notes where such proceeds are insufficient to pay the entire amount due."

The only difference in the case at bar and the Farr case, *supra*, is that in the Farr case there were several holders of the several obligations. The principle of law, however, is the same. Where there are several obligations and the proceeds from the mortgaged property are insufficient to pay all, they should be applied pro-rata.

There was due to Respondent on said Note the sum of \$47,250.00 and the sum of \$35,020.69 on open account when the law suit was commenced. These two items bear a 42.3 per cent and 57.7 per cent ratio to the total. Applying this ratio to the \$20,487.50 merchandise credit, there is applied \$11,821.29 to the Note and \$8,666.21 to the open account.

This is a proper accounting of the merchandise credit and the contention of Appellants that the entire credit should be applied to the note is a direct contradiction to the terms of the agreement and chattel mortgage.

Appellants assert that the assignment of the \$21,979.73 debt owed by the individual appellants was for security purposes only and that no consideration was given therefor. We are not enlightened, however, as to

what facts or agreements appellants rely on to prove their assertion.

Here again, the agreements of the parties clearly expressed show that the "contention" of appellants is not legally sound.

First, as to the allegation of the two individual appellants that the assignment was given without consideration. They can be eliminated from this phase of the controversy because they cannot legally raise the issue of want of consideration. In 6 Am. Jur. 2nd Assignments Sec. 90 it is stated :

"The defense that an assignment was made without consideration is not one which the original debtor may raise when sued by the assignee; the assignee may generally recover in an action against the original debtor or obligor even though there was no consideration for the transfer as between the assignor and the assignee."

The individual appellants owe the corporation \$21,979.73. They acknowledge their indebtedness in the instrument of assignment. There is no basis upon which they can complain upon being compelled to pay a debt which they admittedly owe nor can they complain about being compelled to pay it to respondent.

The appellant corporation also "contends" that no consideration was given for the assignment. This contention is also baseless and entirely refuted by the agreements.

The parties expressly made the assignment part of the agreement of March 10, 1961 by reference. The consideration given therefor is the promise of respondent

to grant further credit to Acme on its purchases. This is clearly understood in the agreement. This promise is sufficient consideration. In 10 Am. Jur., Pledge and Collateral Securities, Section 10, it is stated:

“As in the case of contracts generally, the general rule is that a pledge must be supported by a consideration. A sufficient consideration for the pledge of property may consist of a present loan, *a further advancement*, a stipulation, express or implied, of further time in which to pay a pre-existing debt or a change of securities of a pre-existing debt.” (Italics supplied.)

Appellants attack the attorney's fees of \$4,500.00 awarded by the court.

At the conclusion of the argument of counsel on Respondent's motion for summary judgment, the court instructed counsel to see if an agreement could be reached on the amount of attorney's fees to be awarded. Respondent voluntarily reduced its claim for attorney's fees to the sum of \$4,500.00. This figure was incorporated in the judgment to be entered by the court. Before the judgment was entered by the court, it was submitted to counsel for appellants. The judgment contains the following statement:

“The above judgment is approved as to form and amount of attorney's fees.”

This was interlined out by counsel for appellants, and the folowing written in:

“Received a copy of the foregoing proposed judgment and submit the mattter of attorney's fees to the court.”

It is true that Respondent claimed in its Affidavit attorney's fees amounting in all to \$8,200.00. This sum is approximately 10 per cent of the sums due and owing to Respondent at the time the law suit was commenced. Since the mortgage not only covers the note but also covers further advances and provides that the mortgagor shall pay attorney's fees upon foreclosure, the sum originally claimed by Respondent is fair and reasonable.

However, when Respondent submitted the judgment to the Court for entry, it voluntarily reduced this claim to \$4,500.00 and appellants as quoted above submitted the matter of fees to the court for its decision. This is a reasonable fee for the collection of the note alone, without even considering the collection of the further advances (see *Utah State Bar Advisory Handbook on Office Management and Fees*, 1961).

Furthermore, appellants do not contend that the fee is not reasonable. They merely say they do not know how the same was assessed. Inasmuch as the fee is reasonable for the collection of the note alone, the assessment thereof is not material.

Appellants also alleged that by proper application of the credits, the note might be paid and then no attorney's fees could be assessed. In order to make such an assertion, appellants are looking through the wrong end of the barrel. Appellants have announced a novel legal theory for which there is no authority. In 143 ALR, Page 693, it is stated:

"Next to the nature and extent of the work

performed, the most important single factor in determining the amount of an attorney's compensation is the amount of money involved or the value of the property or rights in controversy."

This principle is always viewed from the standpoint of the amount in controversy at the time the law suit is commenced and not after the security has been sold and a deficiency determined. If it were otherwise as appellants contend, the attorney's fees stipulated in notes secured by mortgages would be a nullity and would certainly work a result not intended by the contracting parties.

Appellants have cited in their Brief certain Utah cases where the summary judgment granted by the lower court has been questioned. In each of those cases, the motion was resisted and if the judgment were reversed for trial, this court found that the showing made by the prevailing party in the lower court did not "preclude all reasonable possibility that the loser could, if given a trial, produce evidence which would reasonably sustain a judgment in his favor." *Bullock v. Deseret Dodge Trucking Center, Inc.*, 354 P. 2d 559 (Utah).

This case is distinguishable. Here Respondent and the two individual appellants moved for judgment based on their interpretation of the written instruments executed by the parties. The rule of *Taylor v. Dahl*, 353 P. 2d. 988 (Utah) applies. In that case, "All parties moved for summary judgment based on the pleadings and depositions of the parties. The court, thus,

was invited to construe the alleged contract in light of its terms and the depositions of the parties . . . The trial court, therefore, at the request of all parties was not in error in construing the contract as not having been performed by the seller, and in justifying the refusal of the buyer to go ahead on the contract."

The position of the individual appellants is one of inconsistency. In the trial court, they said in effect that there is no material issue of fact and requested judgment in their favor as a matter of law. When they lose, they reverse their position in this court and state that there is evidence which would support a judgment in their favor and, therefore, the case should be tried on the merits.

Since the individual appellants in the lower court invited the court to construe the written instruments, they should be bound to that position in this court. The scope of inquiry on this appeal is whether the interpretation of the lower court is reasonably justified and not whether appellants can produce evidence which might support a judgment in their favor.

POINT II.

THE PRO-RATED CREDIT IS CORRECT, BUT DOES NOT EFFECT THE JUDGMENT OF THE COURT AND, THEREFORE, IS NOT PREJUDICIAL TO APPELLANTS.

The two individual appellants contend that the merchandise credit should have been applied only to the note balance; that it would then be substantially paid and that since the assignment was security for the note, their individual liability would be considerably reduced.

Respondent pro-rated the merchandise credit, however, simply as a matter of correct accounting procedure, based on the term of the mortgage providing that the merchandise should be security for the note and future advances.

The balance shown by pro-rating the credit are as follows:

	Note Balance	Open-Account Balance
Date of hearing on		
Summary Judgment	\$47,250.00	\$34,238.38
Credit merchandise		
returns—57.7%	11,821.29	8,666.21*
Credit accounts		
receivable collected	20,015.42
Total, less attorney's		
fees and interest.....	\$15,413.29	\$25,572.17
Interest 12/1/62 to		
June 10, 1963	170.00	790.00
Attorney's fees	4,500.00
*(42.3%)		

The assignment, however, was not merely security for the payment of the note, but also security for other indebtedness. This is the construction placed on the

agreements by the lower court and reflected in the judgment of the court. Were it otherwise, judgment against the two individual appellants would have been for the sum of \$20,283.29 instead of \$21,279.73.

Appellants also contend that they had not received credit for the uncollected receivables and that this would make a difference in their liability. Were it the case that the accounts receivable had been given and accepted as payment rather than as security, there would be merit in appellants' contention. Further, Paragraph 9 of the agreement of March 10 is a complete answer to the argument of appellants. It reads :

“9. In the event of default by Acme, Mastic may immediately proceed to collect the assigned accounts receivable of Acme and may as to each and any of such accounts compromise and settle the same without liability to Acme.”

Since the accounts receivable were assigned only as security and the power given to compromise and settle the same, neither of the appellants have the right to complain about some of the accounts being uncollectable or compromised for a lesser amount.

POINT III.

THE ASSIGNED INDEBTEDNESS OF THE INDIVIDUAL APPELLANTS WAS SECURITY FOR THE PAYMENT OF ANY INDEBTEDNESS OWING TO RESPONDENT BY ACME.

As stated above (and by appellants), the real controversy in this case is between Respondent and the two individual Appellants centering upon the assignment. Appellants first of all state that the assignment was for security only. Respondent has never contended otherwise. Secondly, appellants contend that the assignment was security for the payment of the note only. This is the point upon which the parties divide. The assignment was, in fact, security for the payment of any indebtedness owed by Acme to Respondent and the agreements point to no other possible conclusion.

First, the assignment of March 10, 1961, provides that it shall be part of the agreement of March 10, 1961. Nowhere in the agreement is it stated that the assignment is to be additional security for the payment of the note. What is to be security for the payment of the note is set forth quite clearly; a chattel mortgage on goods and an assignment of the trade accounts. Second, the parties did specifically state that their business relationship would continue and that further credit would be given.

The only reasonable inference from these agreements is that the assignment must cover future indebtedness. Such a pledge is legally valid. In *Sheffer v. Griffiths*, 245 P. 698 (Utah), this court states,

"That pledges are to be construed and enforced according to the interest of the parties as gathered from the instrument of pledge and the subject matter thereof, and that by agreement of the parties, the pledge may be applied, not only to secure the payment or performance of a particular liability or obligation, but also in payment or performance of all liabilities and obligations of the pledgor, due, or to become due, existing when the pledge is given or thereafter contracted or acquired."

One further point. The two individual appellants owe the amount of the assigned debt to the corporation. They so state in the written Assignment. The following rule applies:

"As a general rule, the Assignee can recover the same amount from the debtor as the Assignor might have recovered if he had brought suit, and, when the legal title is in the Assignee, he may recover the full amount of the obligation from the debtor, although he holds the chose as security for a debt or on trust for creditors." 6 *C.J.S. Assignments*, Section 100.

If any rights or equity did exist as respects the assignment, they would belong to the Assignor, Acme, and not to the two individual debtors. Here again the two individual appellants had no standing to complain about paying a debt they admittedly owe and since the corporate appellant owes to Respondent a sum in excess of the amount of the assignment, it cannot complain about the application of this debt to its indebtedness to Respondent.

CONCLUSION

On March 10, 1961, Acme owed to Respondent over \$80,000.00 which was past due. Respondent and Acme at that time entered into an agreement providing that Acme would execute a note for the past due amount secured by a chattel mortgage and accounts receivable. In addition, Acme assigned to Respondent a debt owing to it in the amount of \$21,979.73 as security for the further extension of credit that would be granted to Acme as contemplated by the agreement.

Further credit was extended and later Acme defaulted in its payments. Suit was commenced and the security of the goods and accounts receivable realized upon. Motions for summary judgment were made by Respondent and the two individual Appellants. Sums owing and sums paid were stipulated to by counsel. A balance remained that exceeded the assigned debt.

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